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Abstract

Spurred by the Crimean War (1853-1856), Britain established a post office in
Istanbul for the British army, to manage all its military correspondence. Once
the war had finished, the British Army Post Office was converted into a civil-
ian office. Because the old building was found to be inadequate for the increased
business, the Postmaster General of the UK, George Campbell, directed that a
new building should be erected. In 1859 the architect and civil engineer, Joseph
Nadin designed and managed the construction of the new British Post Office in
Galata. The building, which remains standing to this day, was used as the British
Post Office until 1895, when it was closed, apparently for political reasons, during
the Armenian riots. Afterwards it was converted, initially into a rental property,
and from 1905 onwards used as the English High School for Boys. Meanwhile,
the British Post Office moved into new addresses in the vicinity of the previous
building and opened a new branch office in the Historical Peninsula. This article
examines the historical background of the several relocations of the British Post
Office in Istanbul and analyses these different office buildings in terms of their
architectural designs.
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1. Historical background

From the end of the 16th century the
correspondence between the Ottoman
Empire and other states was mostly
carried out by foreign postal systems
and post offices until the first quarter of
the 20th century (Aslan, 2012). During
this period the first foreign postal ser-
vice within the Ottoman frontier was
run by the Venetians (Tural, 2007). By
the 18th century, Austria and Russia
were entitled to establish postal organ-
isations in the Ottoman Empire. With-
in a short period of time, this right was
also claimed by other European states
such as France in 1812, United King-
dom of Britain in 1832, Greece in 1834
and Germany in 1870 (Varlik, 1985;
Eskin, 1942).

On finding the Ottoman postal ser-
vice inadequate, western states initially
opened post offices to serve their own
embassies and consulates. Later, they
began to carry the post of foreigners
from other countries, along with that
of their own citizens and merchants
living in the Ottoman Empire. Since
the Ottoman maritime transportation
had not reached the same standards as
Europe, particularly in the 19th centu-
ry, the interest in foreign postal steam-
ers increased among the Ottoman sub-
jects (Aslan, 2012).

In order to compete with the foreign
post offices, the Ottoman administra-
tion established specific commissions
and worked to improve the Ottoman
postal service. Until the 19th century,
correspondence within the Ottoman
Empire was commonly maintained
through couriers and post stations
called menzilhane in Turkish. These
stations were located on the trans-
portation routes at regular intervals
and used by the couriers for rest,
food, change of horse and other needs
(Aslan, 2012). Due to the flaws in the
courier-post station system, during the
reign of Sultan Mahmut II (1808-1839)
the first attempt was made to create a
modern postal organisation by build-
ing new roads and commissioning
postal carriages (Yazici, 1999).

However, a thorough organisation
of a European-style, stable postal sys-
tem was gradually established during
the reign of Sultan Abdiilmecit (1839-
1861) (Yazicy, 1999). After the Ministry

of Post had been formed on 23 Octo-
ber 1840, the old postal system was re-
formed, designed to serve all Ottoman
subjects (Tural, 2007). The Ministry
of Post and the first Ottoman post of-
fice in Istanbul began service with the
name of “Postane-i Amire” in a two
storied wooden building located at the
courtyard of the New Mosque in Em-
inonii (Eskin, 1942). The arrangement
of the first post offices was prepared
after examining European postal or-
ganisations. According to the first Ot-
toman postal regulation, enacted on 16
November 1840, post offices were to be
opened in the central quarters of the
city and to be made up of a single room
with shelves, cupboards and niches.
The regulation also defined that in
this room, there must be a window or
a door separating the officers’ section
from the visiting customers. At the en-
trance of the building there should be
a sign, indicating that the building was
a post office with a board showing the
postal tariffs. Until 1863, in which the
first Ottoman stamp was printed, ap-
proximately sixty post offices were put
into service by virtue of this regulation
(Aslan, 2012).

Despite all attempts, the Ottoman
Empire failed to restructure and reg-
ulate its communication with foreign
countries (Aslan, 2012). To be able to
compete with the foreign post offices
the Ottoman administration decid-
ed to use foreign specialists. After the
Crimean War (1853-1856) a British
postal specialist, Edward James Smith,
was retained and temporarily em-
ployed by the Ottoman government
(POST 30/147A, c. 1861). Initially
Smith had been sent from the Inland
Letter Office at Londons General Post
Office to Istanbul in 1854 as “Postmas-
ter to British Forces” (POST 29/79A,
c. 1857). The second British specialist,
who worked for the Ottoman admin-
istration, was an official called Frank
Ives Scudamore. On 15 September
1876 Scudamore established the In-
ternational Ottoman Post Office called
Ittihat Postasi, which for the first time
allowed the Ottoman Ministry of Post
to officially deliver international mail
and fully integrate with the interna-
tional postal services (Yazici, 1999; HL
Deb, 1880). Scudamore was dismissed
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in 1877 on the grounds that he was be-
having as though he was the head of
an independent foreign institution and
had also created budget deficits (Aslan,
2012; Tan, 1967).

In 1832 Britain commenced its post-
al service in the Ottoman Empire ini-
tially to provide secure correspondence
for its embassy (Aslan, 2012). The 1838
Anglo-Ottoman Commercial Treaty of
Baltalimani, which was a formal trade
agreement signed between the Otto-
man Empire and Britain, was a turning
point for both countries. Following this
treaty British merchants gained full ac-
cess to all Ottoman markets and were
taxed the same as local merchants. In
the same year the Ottoman Empire
signed similar trade agreements with
other European countries and grad-
ually became an open market (Celik,
1998; Issawi, 1966). As the interest of
the the British merchants grew in the
Ottoman market, from 1840 onwards
Britain began to construct many public
buildings in the Near East. This was re-
lated to the rivalry between European
powers, the rising European economic
influence over the area, the liberaliza-
tion of Ottoman laws and finally the
establishment of influential British
communities and missionary groups
(Crinson, 1996).

By the 1840’s, the number of British
residents in Istanbul and therefore the
number of British ships had increased
rapidly. The British built a new embas-
sy in 1842-1854, and in 1846 the Sea-
men’s Hospital was established. In 1849
three other buildings were begun: a
consulate, a consular prison and a new
chapel in the grounds of the embassy.
The consulate, the consular prison and
the Seamen’s Hospital together formed
a consular compound in Galata. Galata
was the historic town of business and
commerce, whose role can be traced
as far back as the Genoese occupation
in the twelfth century. European banks
and businesses were situated downbhill
from the Galata Tower, and it was here
in the late 1840’s, two miles away from
the embassy in Pera, yet in the heart of
the British community, that the British
established many of the elements of
what could be termed a consular com-
pound (Crinson, 1996).

The Crimean War was a second
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turning point for the British commu-
nity and its construction activities in
Istanbul. The alliance between the Ot-
toman Empire and Britain during the
war reinforced the political relations
between the two countries. The Ot-
toman Reform Edict of 1856, Islahat
Fermani, which was proclaimed at the
end of the war, brought along, among
many other reforms, a substantial
freedom in terms of the construction
facilities of non-Muslim subjects liv-
ing in the Ottoman Empire and it ac-
celerated the completion of the British
consular compound in Galata. After
the edict, Britain started to build more
monumental buildings in the Ottoman
Empire such as the Crimean Memori-
al Church in Pera in 1858. Within the
following few years the compound in
Galata had taken shape. Consular ship-
ping offices and the British Post Office
were added as the final elements of the
complex (Crinson, 1996).

Although the right to establish a post
office in the Ottoman Empire was giv-
en to Britain in 1832, until the Crime-
an War no British mail, except consular
correspondence, was delivered through
the British postal organisation. Just af-
ter the beginning of the Crimean War,
Britain established a post office in Is-
tanbul for the British army to manage
their troops’ correspondence (Aslan,
2012; Yurtsever, 1983). The Illustrated
London News of 19th January 1856 re-
ports in an article entitled “The British
Army Post-Office at Constantinople”
that the staff employed consisted of a
post master, three assistant post mas-
ters, eight clerks, who had been se-
lected from the General Post Office in
London, and two natives of Istanbul,
who acted chiefly as interpreters. Two
of the post masters and three of the
clerks were employed in the post office
in the Crimea, assisted by two “intel-
ligent non-commissioned officers”
According to the article, each time the
boat from Marseilles brought “twenty
to twentyfive bags full of letters exceed-
ing 12000 and papers about 8000”. This
vast number was sorted into regiments,
brigades and divisions and dispatched
to the Crimea and Scutari in the short
space of two hours (The Illustrated
London News, 1856).

The interior of the British Army Post
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Figure 1. The Interior of the British Army
Post Office (The Illustrated London News,
1856).

Office is depicted in detail on a draw-
ing of the same article published in the
Mlustrated London News. The architec-
tural features of the space match ex-
actly the required physical conditions
of a post office stated in the first Otto-
man postal regulation of 16 November
1840 which was, in turn, derived from
examining the European postal organ-
isations (Figure 1). The office is divided
into the mail delivery room and the of-
ficers’ room. These two parts are con-
nected through an opening with a seg-
mental arch carried by two pilasters in
the form of a classical column on both
sides. There are cupboards and shelves
on the walls of the officers room, where
letter bags are piled up and letters are
placed into the niches. The room is
decorated in a classicist manner partic-
ularly with architectural elements such
as the row of crosses on the cornice,
doric pilasters and walls covered with
vertical stripes. After the war came to
an end, the British Army Post Office
was converted into a civilian and pub-
lic post office on 1 Junel857, which
was initially established in a temporary
premises hired by the Postmaster Ed-
ward James Smith (POST 29/79A, c.
1857).

2. Architectural features of the pur-
pose-built office building in Galata
The Illustrated London News of 17
December 1859 notes the establish-
ment of a new British post office in
Galata detailed in another article enti-
tled “New British Post Office at Con-
stantinople”(The Illustrated London
News, 1859). According to the article
with a drawing of the new building
(Figure 2), “the new British post office
at Constantinople is deserving some-

NEW BRITISH POST OFFICE AT CONSTANTINOPLE —FROM A
PHOTOGRAPH.

Figure 2. The British Post Office building
in Galata (The Illustrated London News,
1859).

thing more than a mere passing no-
tice™:

“Irrespective of its other advantag-
es, it marks what we hope is the com-
mencement of a new order of things in
the Levant. Hitherto our Government
buildings have been carried on in that
quarter with a total disregard of any-
thing like economy. It would startle the
public to hear the total sum that has been
expended on our Government buildings
in Constantinople. The system of com-
mencing works without fixing what they
are to cost has led to the unnecessary ex-
penditure of vast sums of money.

The postal communication with the
Levant, in consequence of the absence
of any arrangement on the part of the
Ottoman Government, has to be carried
on by the various Powers whose rela-
tions are extended over the empire. Pri-
or to the war England had no post-of-
fice establishment in Turkey; but the
great development of our relations with
that country induced the Government
to open an Office at Constantinople,
to which Mr. James Ker was appointed
as postmaster. Under this gentlemans
steadily-improving management the
service has been well carried out, and
the convenience of the large British colo-
ny in Constantinople (upwards of 8000)
has been in every respect properly at-
tended to.

The building hitherto occupied as
the Post Office having been found in-
adequate to the increasing business,
the Postmaster-General determined on
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having a building erected. Tenders were
invited, and the plan of Joseph Nadin,
Esq., C.E. and architect, was selected as
the most suitable in every respect. He is
also the contractor for the works. Mr. E.
C. Baines, clerk of the works from the
Post Office Department, was sent from
England to superintend the progress of
the building, the whole cost of which will
not exceed 4500 Pounds.

The most remarkable feature in con-
nection with the building is the rapidity
of its construction. The foundation was
laid on 22nd of June, and the building
was so far completed by the 15th of Oc-
tober that the first delivery of letters took
place on that date. The Supreme Consul-
ar Court, which is contiguous to the new
Post, occupied upwards of two years in
erecting, although the work is neither
larger nor superior to the new Post Of-
fice.

The architect (Mr. Nadin) has felici-
tously adapted his plans to the circum-
stances of the country.

A complete money-order office is an-
nexed to the general office, and a fire-
proof office for the safety of the depart-
ment is attached, and the whole of the
departments are complete in every sense
of the word. A large and convenient res-
idence for the Postmaster and assistants
is erected over the Post Office, which
has an uninterrupted view of the Gold-
en Horn, the Bosphorus, and the Sea of
Marmora.

The fronts of the building present an
appearance of great taste and solidity - a
colonnade, with massive Doric granite
columns on two faces, between which
handsome iron railings are placed, the
height of the Post Offices twenty feet, and
two stories over, of twelve feet each. On
top of the whole is a look-out tower, with
signal-post, commanding a perfect view
of approaches to the Golden Horn, so as
to enable the arrival of the mail-steam-
ers to be signalled. A ventilating light
shaft, ten feet diameter, rises up through
the whole building, terminating with a
rich dome on the roof”

From what can be understood from
the article and the drawing, the build-
ing is a masonry building consisting of
five floors in total, including the base-
ment and a terrace. The ground floor
was designed for the offices, whereas
the first and second floors were de-
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signed for the accomodation of the
postal officers. The building, located on
the acute angled corner of a building
block, was shaped in accordance with
the form of the construction area. By
comparison with the adjacent wooden
houses and the architectural texture of
the neighbourhood it has a different
character in terms of scale, material
and architectural style.

The corner between the two street
facing facades was beveled by the ar-
chitect in order to form a corner facade
just on the centre. This arrangement
had been applied in Victorian architec-
ture often and one of the first celebrated
examples was the Sun Assurance Build-
ing in London Threadneedle Street,
which was designed by C. R. Cockerell
in 1841. The main entrance of the post
office was placed on this narrow cen-
tral facade behind the colonnade on
the ground floor consisting of four col-
umns on each street-facing facade. The
gaps between the columns were closed
with iron railings except for the en-
trance. On the first and second floors
there were three windows on two main
facades and one window on the narrow
central facade, all framed by rectangu-
lar stone jambs. On the facades, each
floor was separated from each other
with a horizontal molding. On top of
the building there was a terrace with a
ventilating light shaft, look-out tower
and a signal post immediately above
the hipped roof covered with tiles. The
facade of the building was kept unplas-
tered so that the load bearing stones
could be seen from the outside.

Today the British post office build-
ing in Galata still stands on the same
corner further down from the Galata
Tower where Camekan Street and Haci
Ali Street intersect each other (Figure
3). In comparison to the drawing in the
Illustrated London News, it is evident
that the original design of the build-
ing has been substantially conserved.
The terrace was enlarged by removing
the hipped roof and two windows fac-
ing the Camekan Street were filled in.
For the rest of the building, all of the
components of the architectural design
reflect their original state, such as the
rectangular stone jambs, horizontal
moldings, woodwork of the main en-
trance door and ground floor windows

The British Post Office in the Ottoman capital: A transition through a turbulent period



108

Figure 3. The British Post Office Building
(Photo: M. Kaan Sag, 2014).

with special compartments for mail de-
livery (Figure 4).

Similarly inside, most of the struc-
tural and decorative components have
been substantially conserved in their
original state. Typical British construc-
tion techniques from the 19th century
are visible; in the entrance hall, the ex-
posed beams with curvilinear braces
are placed on stone consoles (Figure 5),
and on the upper floor, cast iron beams
are left exposed and riveted (Figure 6).
The use of iron was transformed in Brit-
ain in the early period of the Industrial
Revolution from a material produced
on a relatively small scale serving local
needs to a leading national industry.
Iron was then used to make all kinds
of utensils, machinery and even entire
buildings. As it became a low priced
construction material, in the 19th cen-
tury the constructive use of cast iron in
architecture and engineering prolifer-
ated in almost every building type in

Figure 4. The Interior of the British Post
Office Building (Photo: M. Kaan Sag, 2014).

Britain (Dobraszczyk, 2014; Bridgewa-
ter & Gloag, 1948). Similarly, the clas-
sicist details of the stone fireplaces in
the upper halls match British fireplace
design of the period.

3. The closure and subsequent use of
the purpose-built office building in
Galata

According to the information found
in the Oriental Directories, the British
Post Office in Galata closed in 1895. In
the first yearbook, the Indicateur Con-
stantinopolitain, published in 1868,
the address of the British Post Office
is specified as “Galata, Medrese Street”.
W. Jew is the director, Charles Ker and
E. Algernon Hoyland are the assistant
clerks of the office. In the following
yearbooks until 1895 the address of the
British Post Office remains the same
and the number of officers more or less
remain constant (Lindicateur Con-
stantinopolitan Guide Commercial,
1868; Annuaire Oriental, 1894).

Although the exact reason behind
this closure is unknown, the British Post
Office in Galata was apparently closed
for political reasons during the Arme-
nian riots in the 1890’ (Aykara, 1985).
Some Armenian groups, demanding
reforms in the Eastern provinces and
the establishment of an independent
Armenia, rebelled from the begin-
ning of the 1890’s onwards in various
parts of Anatolia and Istanbul (Ayver-
di, 2005). 1895 was the most intense
year of the Armenian riots and in that
year alone 27 different riots and brutal
incidents occured all over Anatolia,
mostly in the Eastern part (Halagoglu,

Figure 5. The Exposed Beams in the British Post Office Building

Ground Floor (Photo: M. Kaan Sag, 2014).
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2005). In the same year in September a
crowded Armenian group organised a
protest march in Istanbul from Kum-
kap1 towards the Sublime Porte and
clashed with the local security officers,
which caused the unrest to spread all
over the city. This was followed by an-
other riot in August 1896, which again
spread all over Istanbul, after another
Armenian group broke into the Otto-
man Bank in Galata. Britain supported
an Armenian protectorate in the east-
ern provinces of the Ottoman Empire
and demanded reforms in the region,
Sultan Abdiilhamit (1876-1909) there-
fore accused Britain of encouraging
and protecting the Armenians during
the riots (Salt, 1990). By the year 1895
Sultan Abdiilhamit, with the support of
Germany, opposed the reform ideas on
the Armenian sovereignty in spite of
the succesive riots (Halagoglu, 2005).
The close relationship and alliance
with Britain during the reigns of Sultan
Abdulmecit (1839-1861) and Sultan
Abdulaziz (1861-1876) deteriorated
during the reign of Sultan Abdulhamit
(1876-1909) due to the changing polit-
ical balance in Europe. Following the
Treaty of Berlin in 1878, which was
signed after the Russo-Turkish War
(1877-78), Britain primarily protect-
ed the unity of the defeated Ottoman
Empire against Russia, and in return
captured Cyprus in 1878 and Egypt in
1882. Russo-Turkish War was also a
turning point for Armenian soverignty
and following this war an independent
Armenia began to be mentioned, espe-
cially after the 16th article of the Peace
Treaty of San Stefano on Armenian re-
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forms had been accepted as the 61st ar-
ticle of the Treaty of Berlin, under the
pressure of Britain and France (Simsir,
1989; Karacakaya, 2002; Sasmaz, 2000).

During the Armenian riots in the
1890’s, the Ottoman administration
detected the distribution of banned
publications by the foreign post offices
located in Istanbul. Thereupon British,
French and German post officers were
taken into custody, but were later re-
leased however, through the interven-
tion of their ambassadors (Aslan, 2012;
Semerci, 1991). According to a docu-
ment in the Prime Ministry Ottoman
Archives from 29 November 1893,
the banned journals and leaflets were
smuggled into the Ottoman Empire
and distributed daily by the foreign
post offices, especially by the British
Post Office, therefore Ottoman admin-
istration decreed to inhibit it (BOA.,
DH. MKT, 1893). The Ottoman ad-
ministration first served a notice to the
British Embassy due to the “harmful
papers, which encourage people to the
uprising”, as the Minister of Foreign
Affairs Sait Halim Pasha called them
(BOA., Y. A. HUS, 1893). Next, the
Minister of Foreign Affairs Sait Halim
Pasha decreed to send an officer to the
British Post Office to confiscate all the
banned publications. According to an-
other document in the Prime Ministry
Ottoman Archives, some Greek and
Armenian subjects living in Istanbul
smuggled not only banned publica-
tions, but also equipment used to make
explosives from London through the
British Post Office.

Following the closure of the British
Post Office in Galata, the building was
used over time for different purpos-
es. According to an official document
from 11" November 1900 written by
the Grand Vizier Halil Rifat Pasha and
introduced to Sultan Abdulhamit, the
building was registered formerly on
behalf of the British Embassy in ex-
change for a regular land tax (BOA,
I. ML, 1901). The document is main-
ly about the submission of the British
Embassy of a formal request to acquit
the debt on the accumulated estate tax
of the British Post Office. According to
the same document the building was

initially converted in 1895 into a rental
property.

Figure 6. Cast iron beams in the British Post Office Building first
floor (Photo: M. Kaan Sag, 2014).

The British Post Office in the Ottoman capital: A transition through a turbulent period



110

After its utilization as a rental prop-
erty, the building began to be used as
a British school from 1905 onwards.
On the Goad map dated 1905 the Brit-
ish Post Office building stands on the
same corner, where with their new
road names Bereket Zade Cami Street
and Hac1 Ali Street intersect each oth-
er (Figure 7). The building is decribed
on the map erroneously as the “British
School for Girls”, however this school
which served until the beginning of
the First World War was established
mainly for British boys resident in Is-
tanbul. Two documents in the Prime
Ministry Ottoman Archives have im-
portance in terms of proving the con-
version process of the old British Post
Office building into a British school
for boys (BOA., ME. MKT, 1905; BOA,
BEO, 1905). On an official paper, writ-
ten by the Ministry of Education and
sent to the Sublime Porte and Ministry
of Foreign Affairs, it is stated that the
British Embassy submitted a formal
request for the establishment of a new
British school in Galata. According to
the request by the British Embassy this
school was required to complement
the English High School for Girls in
Beyoglu. The aim of the school was to
educate the “British children and boys”
resident in Istanbul according to the
British curriculum. The school was go-
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ing to be opened by a committee under
the chairmanship of the British Em-
bassy counselor “in the old British Post
Office building on 19" October 1905”.
The committee planned to accept ini-
tially only British children over 8 years
old and in the future would accept chil-
dren from different nations.

4. Subsequent locations of the British
Post Office

After the closure of the Galata office
in 1895, the British Post Office carried
on serving until the beginning of the
First World War in several multi-sto-
ried commercial buildings called ‘han’
in the vicinity of Galata, known as Kara-
koy today (Figure 8). However these
were much smaller offices in compar-
ison to the Galata office, which were
located amongst other business’ offices
in the same building. The British Post
Office moved first into the “Karakoy
Yeni Han” in 1895 (Annuaire Oriental,
1895) and stayed here for approximate-
ly ten years (Annuaire Oriental, 1904).
This four storied masonry han, which
today stands on the junction of the Ke-
meralt1 Street and Tersane Street, was
built in 1893 and designed by the ar-
chitect Alexandre Vallaury (Akbayar &
Isin, 1993) in a classicist manner with
facade elements such as pediments and
composite pilasters in colossal order.

. Tf}a w4 e ,”

Figure 7. The British Post Office Building in 1905 as a British high school (Dagdelen, 2007).
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Figure 8. 1. British Post Office in Galata 2. Karakdy Yeni Han 3.
Voyvoda Han 4. Omer Abed Han (Dagdelen, 2007).

After the British Post Office moved
into Karakoy Yeni Han, the circulation
of the banned papers continued and
the Ottoman government maintained
its close surveillance (BOA, A. MKT.
MHM, 1896; BOA, ZB, 1907).

The next address of the British Post
Office was the ground floor of the
“Voyvoda Han” on Banks Street (An-
nuaire Oriental, 1909). The British Post
Office served here until 1912. This
four storied masonry han with iron
beams and an eclectic design was built
in 1903-1904 by an unknown archi-
tect and remains standing to this day
(Gulenaz, 1998). Beside the British
Post Office it was used mostly by small
scale companies and agencies (Eldem,
2006).

The final address of the British Post
Office was the ground floor of the
“Omer Abed Han”, situated in Karakoy
on Kara Mustafa Street (Annuaire Ori-
ental, 1912). The office served here be-
tween 1912 and 1914 (Annuaire Ori-
ental, 1913; 1914). According to the
original inscription on its facade wall,
the five storied han, which also re-
mains standing, was built in 1905-1906
and designed by the architect Alexan-
dre Vallaury again in a classicist man-
ner with facade elements such as ped-
iments, ionic half columns, corinthian
pilasters and cartouches.

5. Branch office buildings

Beside the central office, the British
Post Office had also opened a branch
office in the Istanbul Historical Pen-
insula just opposite to Galata, which
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moved to different addresses several
times as did the central office (Figure
9). The Orient Express, which began
a service in 1883, appears to have in-
fluenced the opening of the branch
office. The oldest address of this office
was “Whittall Han, Meydancik Street”,
which was mentioned first in the 1892
yearbook of the Oriental Directories
(Annuaire Oriental, 1892-93). Accord-
ing to the British Postal Archive doc-
uments, the branch office was opened
in Whittall Han in April 1885 (POST
29/393A, c. 1885). According to the
documents in the Ottoman Archive
(BOA, SD, 1886; BOA, HR. TO, 1886),
this office started to compete unfairly
with the Ottoman Post Office and for
this reason the Ottoman government
served a notice on the British Embassy
for the closure of the branch. Whittall
Han, which stands partially on Biiyiik
Postane Street and used by the Ziraat
Bank, was built by the notable Levan-
tine British family Whittall. The han’s
architect is unknown and only the
main facade of the building was pre-
served on its latest restoration.

The second address of the branch
office was the “Camondo Han” again
located in the Historical Peninsula.
In the same year as the closure of the
central office in 1895, the branch office
moved from Whittall Han to the Ca-
mondo Han and stayed here for a short
time until 1896 (Annuaire Oriental,
1895; 1896-1897). Camondo Han was
built at the beginning of 1880’ by the
notable Ottoman Jewish banking fam-
ily Camondo (Tugay & Tugay, 2007).
The han, which was designed by an un-
known architect, stands on the Mah-
mut Pasa Street with the name of Kefeli
Han, which partially reflects the origi-
nal design.

The branch office was closed on 3
September 1896 in consequence of the
“violent disturbances” in the Histor-
ical Peninsula during the Armenian
riots. The catalyst was the murder of
two Armenian officials of the British
Post Office on 26 August 1896 (POST
29/667A, c. 1899). Although repeated
requests by the members of the British
community in Istanbul had been made
for the office to be reopened, no action
was taken because the foreign offic-
es considered the political conditions
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Figure 9. 1. Whittall Han 2. Camondo Han 3. Hazzopulo Han (Dagdelen, 2007).

in Ottoman Empire “unfavourable”
(POST 29/896C, c. 1906).

The branch office remained closed
between 1896-1908. It was reopened
on 7 February 1908 on the ground
floor of the Hazzopulo Han, situated
in the vicinity of the Camondo Han
and served here until the beginning of
the First World War in 1914 (Annu-
aire Oriental, 1909; 1912; 1913; 1914;
POST 29/896C, c. 1906). The han,
which is also known as Hacopulo Han,
remains one of the few bureau hans
in Emindnii containing an arcade. It
was built by an Ottoman Greek mer-
chant called Hazzopulos. The fact that
the han’s name was mentioned in the
oldest yearbook of the Oriental Direc-
tories, indicates that the han was built
before 1868, although its exact date is
unknown (Gtilenaz, 1998).

The central and branch office of the
British Post were closed on 20 Novem-
ber 1914 along with all other foreign
post offices in Istanbul with the “Im-
tiyazat-1 Ecnebiyyenin Lagv1” law, en-
acted on 1 October 1914, as the Otto-
man Empire entered into World War I
(Varlik, 1985; ). The main factor behind
the enactment of this law was the abro-
gation of the commercial and judicial
privileges, known as capitulations, on

18th September 1914 by the Ottoman
government. After the defeat of the
Ottoman Empire in World War I, the
foreign post offices were opened once
again. They were finally and completely
removed after the Turkish War of Inde-
pendence with the Treaty of Lausanne
on 24 July 1923 (Aslan, 2012; Eskin,
1942).

6. Conclusion

The caputilations, which were grant-
ed to the foreign countries initially
in Sultan Suleiman the Magnificent’s
reign (1520-1566), started to restrict
the legislative and executive power of
the Ottoman Empire in its period of
decline. Along with the 19" century
reforms of the Ottoman Empire, the
foreign post began to be organized on
a large scale in the provinces and start-
ed to be seen to be objectionable by the
Ottoman authorities in terms of public
security and their rivalry with the state
post (Aslan, 2012). In order to abolish
the foreign post offices in the Ottoman
Empire, a commission was established
by the members of the state council in
1881 (BOA, $D, 1881). Several attempts
to abolish these offices were mentioned
in postal union congresses of Vienna in
1891, Washington in 1897 and Rome
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in 1906, however it generally did not
succeed (Aslan, 2012).

In the beginning of the 1900 the
fact, that the Young Turks periodicals
published especially in Britain and
France were sent daily to Istanbul,
compelled Sultan Abdiilhamit to find
different ways to control the foreign
post offices (Varlik, 1985). To prevent
the foreign post offices delivering these
publications, it was decided, first to
warn them, to place a couple of police-
man on the doors of these offices and
then to start criminal proceedings on
the involved postal officers (BOA, I.
HUS,1901).In 1905, Sultan Abdiilham-
it decreed to close down all the foreign
post offices in the Ottoman Empire,
but in practice it had not been possible
to convince the European states on the
issue (BOA, I. HUS, 1905). Thereupon
the related commission resolved to use
force to this end if necessary (BOA, Y.
A. RES, 1905).

Even though the British Post Office
and the branch office were obliged to
relocate repeatedly, the central office
stayed around Galata and the branch
office stayed in the Historical Peninsu-
la of Istanbul in spite of all the nega-
tive conditions. The prestigious hans,
that the central post office moved into,
after leaving the purpose-built office
in Galata, are an indication that the
British Post Office was not concerned
with maintaining a low profile in the
city. Two of the three central offices
were located in the buildings designed
by Alexandre Vallaury, the celebrated
architect of the era, who also designed
many other great projects in Istanbul.
Although the architect of the Voyvoda
Han is not known, the eclectic design
and central location of the building
seems to have had a substantial influ-
ence over the positioning of the fol-
lowing British Post Office. Similarly
the hans, which contained the branch
offices were built by the prominent and
wealthy families of Istanbul. In the end,
although the first British Post Office in
Galata was closed down in 1895, The
British Post Office continued its exis-
tence in Istanbul until the collapse of
the Ottoman Empire and continued
to compete with the post offices of the
other states in the city.
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Abbrevations

BOA Bagbakanlik Osmanli Arsivleri
[The Ottoman Archives of the Prime
Minister’s Office]

A. MKT. MHM. Sadaret Mithimme
Kalemi Evraki

BEO. Bab-1 Ali Evrak Odasi

DH. MKT. Dahiliye Mektubi Kalemi

HR. TO. Hariciye Tercime Odas1

I. HUS. Iradeler Hususi

I. ML. Iradeler Maliye

MF. MKT. Maarif Nezareti Mektubi
Kalemi

SD. Sura-i Devlet

Y. A. HUS. Yildiz Hususi Maruzat

Y. A. RES. Yildiz Resmi Maruzat

ZB. Zabtiye
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Ozgiin tasarimini korumaktadir. Ori-
jinal tasariminda yapiin zemin kati
posta ofislerine, birinci ve ikinci kati
ise postane memurlarinin konaklama-
sina ayrilmugtir. Tki sokagin birbirini
dar agiyla kestigi bir yap1 adas1 kose-
sinde yiikselen bina, mimar tarafindan
arazinin sinirlarina bagh olarak sekil-
lendirilmistir. 19. yiizyillin ortasinda
etrafin1 saran ahsap evlerle kiyaslan-
diginda, 6l¢ii, malzeme ve klasisist mi-
mari stili ile iginde yer aldigi mimari
dokudan farklilasmaktadir.

Galata Ingiliz Postanesi, sark tica-
ret yilliklarindan edinilen bilgiye gore
1895%¢ kadar hizmet vermeye devam
etmis ve 1894-95 sezonunda kapan-
migtir.  Postanenin  kapanmasinda
1890’larda yasanan Ermeni olaylarinin
etkili oldugu anlasilmaktadir. 1894-95
yili Istanbul ve Anadoluda Ermeni is-
yanlarinin en yogunlastigi donemdir.
Sadece 1895de Dogu Anadolu yogun-
luklu olmak tizere 27 farkli isyan ve
olay yasanmustir. Ayni sene Eyliil ayin-
da Kumkaprdan Bab-Ali'ye dogru yii-
riylis gosterisi diizenleyen biiyiik bir
Ermeni grubu ve giivenlik gorevlileri
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arasinda ¢atigma yasanmuis, olaylar bii-
yiyerek sehrin bir¢ok farkli noktasina
sigramistir. Bunu 1896 Agustos'unda
bir grup Ermeninin Osmanli Banka-
s'n1 basmasi sonucu Istanbul'un yine
farkli noktalarina sigrayan olimli
olaylar takip etmistir. Ingiltere, Os-
manli Devletinin dogu vilayetlerinde
reformlar gerceklestirmesini talep et-
mekte ve bolgede bir Ermeni protekto-
rasinin olugsmasini desteklemekteyken,
Sultan Abdiilhamit yasanan isyanlar
sonucunda Ingiltere’yi Ermenileri ce-
saretlendirmek ve korumak ile sugla-
muigtir.

Osmanli yonetimi, yasanan bu Er-
meni olaylar1 sirasinda Istanbuldaki
yabanci postalarca yasakli yayimnlarin
dagitildigini tespit etmis, bunun tizeri-
ne ingiliz, Fransiz ve Alman acenteleri
nezaret altina aldirilmis, ancak sefirle-
rin midahalesiyle serbest birakilmis-
lardir. Bagbakanlik Osmanli Arsivinde
yer alan 29 Kasim 1893 tarihli belgeye
gore iilkeye sokulmasi yasaklanan ga-
zete ve risaleler, yabanci postalarca ve
ozellikle de Ingiliz postasinca her giin
dagitilmaktadir ve bunun engellen-
mesi gerekmektedir. Ayni seneye ait
bir baska belgede Ingiliz postanesinin
dagittig1 ve Hariciye Nazirrnin deyi-
siyle “halk: ihtilale tesvik eden muzir
evraktan” dolay1 Ingiltere Sefaretine
tebligatta bulunuldugu goriilmektedir.
Hariciye Nazirrnin 6 Eylil 1893 tarih-
li yazisina gére Ingiliz postanesine bir
memur gonderilerek yasakli olan ya-
yinlar toplatilacaktir. Bir diger belgede
ise postane araciligiyla sadece muzir
evrak degil, patlayici madde getirildigi
de iddia edilmektedir. Belgeye gore Is-
tanbuldaki bazi Rum ve Ermeniler In-
giliz postanesi araciligiyla Londradan
bos fisek getirtmektedirler.

1894-95 senesinde oncelikle akar
haline getirilen Galata Ingiliz Postanesi
binasi, 1905’te bir Ingiliz okuluna do-
nistirilmastiir. Bu okul, 1905 tarihli
GOAD haritasinda “British School for
Girls” (Ingiliz Kiz Okulu) olarak ta-
nimlanmistir. Ancak bahsedilen okul
Osmanli Arsivi belgelerine gore 1.
Diinya Savas’nin baslangicina dek Is-
tanbulda yasayan Britanyali erkek 6g-
rencilere yonelik egitim vermistir.

1ngiliz Postanesi, Galata binasindan
tasinmasinin ardindan 1. Diinya Sa-
vasrna kadar Karakoyde ti¢ farkli han

icerisinde Galata Ingiliz Postanesine
kiyasla ¢ok daha kiigiik postane ofisleri
acarak hizmet vermeye devam etmis-
tir. 1895 sark ticaret yilliginda Ingiliz
Postanesinin ilk olarak Karakdy Yeni
Han’a taginmis oldugu goriilmektedir.
Ingiliz Postanesi burada 1900’lii yilla-
rin ortalarina dek kalmistir. Giinimtiz-
de Kemeralt1 Caddesi ve Tersane Cad-
desinin kesistigi kosede halen ayakta
duran dort katli kagir yap1 1893’te inga
edilmis ve Mimar Alexandre Vallaury
tarafindan tasarlanmistir. Yapi, cephe-
sinde yer alan ti¢gen alinlik ve kompo-
zit baslikli kolosal pilaster gibi mimari
ogelerle klasisist bir iisluba sahiptir.

Ingiliz Postanesi’nin bir sonraki ad-
resi Bankalar Caddesindeki Voyvoda
Hani olmustur. 1904 senesi sark ticaret
yilliginda Ingiliz Postanesi adresi Kara-
koy Yeni Han'ken 1909 senesi yilligin-
da adresin “Voyvoda Caddesi (Banka-
lar Caddesi) Voyvoda Han zemin kat1”
olarak degistigi goriilmektedir. Giinii-
miizde halen ayakta duran ve 1903-
1904 senelerinde insa edilen dort katlt
han, Ingiliz postanesi disinda daha ¢ok
kiictik olgekli sirketler, miimesillikler
ve biirolar tarafindan kullanilmistir.

Ingiliz Postanesi Voyvada Hanin
ardindan 1912de yine Karakéyde bu-
lunan Omer Abed Han’a tasinmis ve
1914 dek bu adreste hizmet vermis-
tir. Hanin insaat tarihi girisindeki ki-
tabeye gore Rumi 1321 (Miladi 1905-
1906) senesidir ve mimar1 Alexandre
Vallurydir. Giintimiizde yeni adiyla
Kemankes Caddesi tizerinde halen
ayakta olan bes katli yapinin cepheleri
iyon siitun baglikli yarim siitun, korint
stitun baslikli pilaster, paladyen korku-
luk, kartus ve kirik alinlik gibi mimari
elemanlarin kullanildig1 eklektik bir
tasarima sahiptir.

ingiliz Postanesi, merkez ofisinin
yani sira Tarihi Yarimadada bir de sube
ofisi acmis ve bu ofis de merkez ofis
gibi sik sik adres degistirmistir. Sube
ofisi ilk olarak Whittal Handa hizmet
vermis, daha sonra Camondo Han ve
en son olarak Hacopulo Han’a tasin-
mistir. Bu hanlarin ortak 6zelligi Istan-
bul'un zengin levanten aileleri tarafin-
dan insa edilmis olmalaridir.

Ingiliz Postanesi merkez ofisi ve
sube ofisi, Osmanli Devletinin 1. Diin-
ya Savasrna girmesi sonucu 1 Ekim
1914’te ¢ikarilan “Imtiyazat-1 Ecnebiy-
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yenin Lagvi” kanunuyla, tiim yabanci
posta orgiitleriyle beraber kesin olarak
kapatilmistir. Ittihat ve Terakki yone-
timinin 18 Eyliil 1914’te kapitiilasyon-
lar1 kaldirmasi, bu kanunun ¢ikigini
saglayan ana etken olmustur. Osmanl
Devletinin Birinci Diinya Savasrnda
maglup sayllmasindan sonra yabanci
postaneler tekrar acilmaya baglamus,
tamamen ortadan kalkmalar1 ancak
Kurtulus Savasi sonrasinda 24 Tem-
muz 1923 tarihli Lozan Antlagsmasr’yla
mimkiin olmustur.

Istanbuldaki Ingiliz Postanesi ve
Tarihi Yarimada subesi Osmanli done-
minde sik sik yer degistirmek zorunda
kalmigsa da tim olumsuz kosullara
ragmen merkez ofis Galatadan, sube
ofisi ise Eminonii Hanlar bolgesinden
ayrilmamis, her seferinde yakin adres-
lere tasinmiglardir. Ozellikle merkez
ofislerde Galata Ingiliz Postanesinin
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ardindan taginilan #i¢ hanin da pres-
tijli ve batili mimariye sahip yapilar
olmasina dikkat edilmistir. Bunlardan
ikisi Osmanli bagkentinde biiyiik pro-
jelere imza atan donemin tinlii mimar1
Alexandre Vallaurynin tasarlamis ol-
dugu hanlardir. Voyvoda Han'in mi-
mar1 bilinmese de tasarimi ve Voyvoda
Caddesindeki konumu, postane igin
yeni bir adres se¢iminde etkili olmus
goriinmektedir. Sube ofisinin tasindig:
hanlar, benzer sekilde Istanbul’'un 6nde
gelen varlikls tiiccar aileleri tarafindan
yaptirilmis binalardir. Sonugta Ingil-
tere tarafindan postane olarak insa
edilen Galata Ingiliz Postanesi politik
sebeplerle kapatilmigsa da, Ingiliz Pos-
tanesi Osmanli Devletinin yikilisina
dek bagkent Istanbuldaki varligini siir-
diirmiis ve diger devletlere ait postalar-
la rekabet etmeye devam etmistir.
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